1962

Keith B. Ellis et al v. Karl B. Hale et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

The plaintiffs brought this action in the Third Dis-
trict Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, for damages
allegedly sustained due to the wrongful action of all
the defendants herein arising from a sale of certain real

property by the defendants and their agents to the plaintiffs, Shirlene Duncan, Adam Duncan, Keith B. Ellis and Virginia Ellis; and further for the resulting damages to the other named plaintiffs from and due to the wrongful acts of the defendants. The instant appeal is from an order of the Honorable Ray VanCott, Jr., Judge, granting the defendants' motion to dismiss plaintiffs' complaint with prejudice.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On the 27th of April, 1961, the original complaint in this action was filed (R. 1), and an order to show cause issued thereon by Judge Marcellus K. Snow. (R. 10). Thereafter, a motion to vacate the plaintiffs' order to show cause (R. 13) and motion to dismiss plaintiffs' complaint were filed. A hearing was held thereon in May, 1961 (R. 22). The order to show cause hearing resulted in no material action. Thereafter the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint (R. 37) on June 5, 1961, and a motion to dismiss was made by defendants. Upon hearing thereon before the Honorable Aldon J. Anderson, Judge, an order was entered denying the defendants' motion to dismiss without prejudice, and plaintiffs were granted to file a second amended complaint. (R. 50). Thereafter, the plaintiffs filed a motion to amend their complaint, which was again granted. (R. 53). On July 10, 1961, the plaintiffs filed their second amended complaint. Motions to dismiss the second amended complaint were filed (R. 69) and on August 4, 1961, a hearing was held thereon before the Honorable Ray VanCott, Jr.. An order was entered after hearing on 4 August 1961,

dismissing the plaintiffs' second amended complaint as to all defendants. A notice of appeal from that order was filed by plaintiffs on 9 August 1961. This appeal is predicated upon the trial court's order granting the defendants' motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' second amended complaint.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiffs seek reversal of the trial court's order granting the defendant's motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' second amended complaint, and that the defendants be compelled to answer said complaint.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendants, Karl B. Hale, Delsa G. Hale, J. Theodore Elders, Jr., Lois H. Elders, Ralph D. Fisher and Barbara H. Fisher, will be referred to in this brief as the defendants Hale, Elders and Fisher unless otherwise specifically designated. The defendants Roy A. and Ruth R. Barrett will be designated as defendants Barrett unless otherwise specifically designated. The plaintiffs Keith B. Ellis and Virginia Ellis, and Adam M. Duncan and Shirlene H. Duncan will be referred to as plaintiffs Ellis and Duncan, unless otherwise specifically designated, and the same reference will be made to Richard and Ann Burton.

The facts relied upon in prosecution of the appeal are generally set in the plaintiffs' second amended complaint. The allegations are that the defendants Hale, Elders and Fisher engaged the engineering firm of Bush

and Gudgell in early 1959 to survey a piece of land in Salt Lake County which these defendants owned. The firm of Bush and Gudgell surveyed the defendants' property and divided it into four building lots, and prepared a subdivision plat therefor which they presented to the Salt County Planning and Zoning Commission on or about May 15, 1959. This subdivision embraced the defendants Hale, Elders and Fisher's property, as such, and was identified on the plat as "Mount Olympus Park No. 5." (R. 57). It is further alleged that the defendants Hale, Elders and Fisher were co-partners as to the development of the above mentioned subdivision building lots (R. 56), and that all the defendants were engaged together as co-partners and joint adventures in real estate transactions.

It was further alleged that subsequent to the filing of the proposed plat, above mentioned, the Hale, Elders, and Milton V. Backman, their attorney and agent, received notice from the Salt Lake County Planning Commission that the plat could not be accepted until the County "Subdivision Ordinance," Title 9, Salt Lake County Ordinances, was complied with. This ordinance requires the subdivider to provide curb, gutter, sidewalk, fire hydrant, water drainage and other facilities, and also requires that the subdivided lots be of a certain size, in which particulars the four above mentioned lots are alleged to be deficient.

It was alleged that during the spring of 1959 that defendants Hale, Elders and Fisher conveyed to defendants Barrett three lots identified on the plat prepared

by Gudgell as Lots 1, 2, and 3 (R. 58), and that in July and August, 1959, defendants Barrett conveyed by warranty deed all three lots to plaintiffs Adam M. and Shirlene Duncan for good consideration. That Lots 2 and 3 had in 1958 been conveyed by defendants Hale to their children and spouses. (R. 58). By warranty deed dated 7 July, 1959, a conveyance of land described in metes and bounds and bearing the description "Lot 2" was conveyed to plaintiffs Adam M. and Shirlene Duncan by defendants, Fisher and Hale, and that by warranty deed dated 7 July, 1959 a conveyance in land described in metes and bounds and bearing the description "Lot 1" was conveyed by defendants Hale and Elders to plaintiffs Duncan. (Both lots corresponded to Lots 1 and 2 on the subdivision plat above mentioned.

In addition, on August 7, 1959, a conveyance of land described in metes and bounds, and bearing the description "Lot 3" was conveyed by defendants Hale and Barrett to plaintiffs Duncan by warranty deed. "Lot 4" of the Mt. Olympus Park Subdivision was conveyed by defendants Elders to plaintiffs Keith and Virginia Ellis by warranty deed on 27 January 1960. Both of these lots corresponded to Lots "3" and "4" on the Mt. Olympus Subdivision plat.

It is alleged that the plaintiffs applied for building permits on these properties to the Salt Lake County Planning Commission, and have been refused permits because of the failure of defendants to comply with 57-5-5 and 17-27-21, U.C.A. 1953, and, further, that the

county will not issue permits until full compliance with Title 9 SLCO has been effected.

The plaintiffs Duncan, it is alleged, subsequent to the receipt of the above conveyances, conveyed their interest in the lots to plaintiffs Loel T. Hepworth and Connie Jo M. Hepworth and Richard B. Burton and Ann B. Burton, (R. 19), but that said sale cannot be consummated because of the defendants' wrongdoing.

It is alleged that the reference in the deeds to Duncans above mentioned conveying "Lot 1, "Lot 2" and "Lot 3", was intended to incorporate by reference the lots on the plat prepared by Bush and Gudgell as Mount Olympus Park No. 5, and that as subdivision lots they would be worth \$6,000.00 each, but only worth \$100.00 as non building lots. (R. 61).

It is alleged that *all* the defendants caused the purported plat or plan of Mount Olympus Park No. 5 to be shown to Adam M. Duncan and Keith B. Ellis and oral reference was made to the conveyer lands with respect to the platted lots, and that this reference and disclosure was to induce the purchase of the lots by Duncan and Ellis. (R. 1, 62). It is further alleged that Karl B. Hale did with intent to defraud and with full knowledge of contrary facts, tell defendant Ray A. Barrett that the lots were building lots, and did not disclose the refusal of approval by the County Planning Commission, and that defendants, through Barrett as co-partner of all defendants (R. 56, Fourth, 61) then made similar misrepresentations to Duncan who, in

reliance thereon, purchased Lots 1, 2, and 3. In addition, it is alleged that Milton V. Backman was attorney and agent in fact for the defendants Hale and a partner of Backman Abstract and Title Company, and that he was informed that Adam M. Duncan wanted the deeds in question to note the conveyances as subdivision lots, in that he, Backman, was aware that Duncan thought he was purchasing three subdivision lots, but failed to disclose they were not a part of an approved subdivision. (R. 64). In addition, it is alleged that Backman further issued, as a partner of Backman Abstract and Title Company, an "Interim Title Insurance Binder" to Duncan as an inducement to the plaintiff Duncan to purchase said property, and that Backman failed to note the defects of non-subdivision property in the insurance binder. (R. 64).

It is alleged that plaintiffs Ellis, upon purchasing "Lot 4" from defendants Elders who were co-partners, agents and principals of all the defendants, engaged the services of an architect to design a home for the lot and paid the sum of \$5,000 therefor, but due to the failure of defendants to comply with Title 9, Salt Lake County Ordinances, construction could not be commenced and the plans so prepared were rendered useless.

Finally, it is alleged that defendant Backman issued to plaintiffs Burton a title insurance policy covering Lots "1 and 2" and did not disclose therein the fact that the lots were not subdivision lots.

Eight claims for relief based upon the above facts are set out in the complaint, and damages prayed on

each claim. The legal conclusions of each claim are contained in the record and have not been set out at length, but are treated in the arguments herein presented.

The defendants' motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' complaint based on the above facts was asserted on the grounds of failure to state "facts upon which relief can be granted," and as to the defendants LeGrand P. Backman and Milton V. Backman, that it is an "improper misjoinder" of parties and claims.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE APPELLATE COURT MUST VIEW THE RECORD IN A MANNER MOST FAVORABLE TO PLAINTIFFS.

The trial court granted the defendants' motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' second amended complaint, with prejudice, upon the merits as to all plaintiffs against all defendants. (R. 77). The basis of the defendants' motion was two-fold. First, it was contended the complaint "does not state facts upon which relief can be granted," and secondly, an "improper misjoinder of parties and causes of action" as to defendants LeGrand P. Backman and Milton V. Backman. (R. 9). No answer was ever filed, nor does the court's order reflect the basis for its holding.

Since the trial court's ruling must be assumed to have encompassed all the bases urged by the defendants, before the ruling of the trial court may be affirmed, it must appear that the plaintiffs' complaint, when construed in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs, *Young*

v. Texas Co., 8 Utah 206, 331 P.2d 1099 (1958), states no ground for relief as against any of the defendants by any of the plaintiffs, or that misjoinder is an appropriate remedy for dismissal with prejudice.

In *Liquor Control Commission v. Athas*, 121 Utah 453, 243 P.2d 441 (1952), the court stated as to the propriety of granting a motion to dismiss:

“A motion to dsmiss should not be granted unless it appears *to a certainty* that plaintiff would be entitled to no relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of its claim.”

The court further noted that a claim could be pleaded by “recitation of conclusions of law or fact or both.” To the degree that defendants’ motion was based upon insufficiency of pleaded facts, it is contrary to the above rule.

It is submitted that when the second amended complaint is viewed most favorably to any of the plaintiffs and as against any of the defendants, it is clear a claim for relief sufficient to meet the test of the *Athas* case has been pleaded and the trial court erred in not so finding.

POINT II.

THE PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST CLAIM AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS ADEQUATELY STATES A CLAIM FOR RELIEF ON TWO THEORIES:

It is submitted that plaintiffs’ second amended complaint, First Claim, adequately sets out a cause of action.

The First Claim reasserts paragraphs 1-25 of the complaint, and alleges in addition that "Subdivision Ordinance" Title 9, Salt Lake County Ordinances, and Sections 57-5-5 and 17-27-21, U.C.A. 1953, give rise to a civil action in favor of plaintiffs upon violation thereof that proximately damages the plaintiffs. It is additionally alleged that the defendants caused the Mount Olympus Park No. 5 plat or plan to be shown to plaintiffs Duncan and Ellis and that defendants never disclosed that the plan had not been recorded or approved; and, further, that in the deeds of conveyance and orally, reference was intended to be made to the subdivision and that no disclosure of non-approval or recording was made at such time. Further, in the general allegations in paragraphs 1-25, it appears that Milton V. Backman and defendants Hale, Elders and Fisher had notice of rejection of the plat by Salt Lake County, and that sale of the lots was made to Duncan and Ellis with that knowledge. It is submitted that the defendants are liable to the plaintiffs in negligence, based on the facts alleged, in their failure to comply with the ordinances and statutes.

A. NEGLIGENCE PREDICATED ON VIOLATION OF A STATUTE AND ORDINANCE;

Title 9 of the Salt Lake County Ordinances has been in effect in similar form to that presently in effect since 17 December 1952, and in present form since March 29, 1959. The purposes of this ordinance are set forth in 9-2-1 SLCO, which states:

"The underlying purpose and intent of this Title is to promote the health, safety, convenience and general welfare of the inhabitants of the

unincorporated territory of the County in the matter of the subdivision of land and to encourage the healthful growth of the county.”

The sale of subdivision land or the subdivision thereof is prohibited unless compliance with the ordinance has been had. 9-3-1 SLCO. The ordinance requires approval of County Planning Commission and sets up minimum subdivision requirements. Violation of this ordinance is a misdemeanor. 1-1-6 SLCO.

Title 17, Chapter 27, U.C.A. 1953, deals with county zoning and planning, and 17-27-5, U.C.A. 1953, sets out the purposes of the chapter, among which are to :

“ * * * promote the health, safety, morals, order, convenience, prosperity, or the general welfare of the inhabitants.”

Section 17-27-21, U.C.A. 1953, expressly provides :

“Whoever, being the owner or agent of the owner of any land located within a subdivision in a county where a county planning commission has been created, transfers or sells any land in such subdivision before a plan or plat of such subdivision has been approved by such planning commission and, except as set forth in the preceding paragraph, recorded in the office of the county recorder, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor for each lot or parcel so transferred or sold; *and the description of such lot or parcel by metes and bounds in the instrument of transfer or other document used in the process of selling or transferring shall not exempt the transaction from such penalties or from the remedies herein provided.*”

Also bearing upon the subdivision of land is Title 57, Chapter 5, U.C.A. 1953. This chapter allows the subdividing of land, but provides that when it is so platted by the owner, an accurate map will be made which will be acknowledged, certified, and recorded, and if county or city approval is required, it should be obtained. 57-5-3, U.C.A. 1953. 57-5-5, U.C.A. 1953, provides:

“If any person shall sell any lot so platted according to such plat before it is made out, acknowledged, filed and recorded as aforesaid, such person shall be guilty of a misdemeanor for each lot which he shall sell.”

It is admitted that the above sections are criminal statutes; however, this does not preclude a civil remedy being based upon a violation thereof which is the proximate cause of a plaintiff's damages. Thus, in *Texas P. Ry. Co. v. Rigsby*, 241 U.S. 33 (1916), it was noted:

“A disregard of the command of the statute is a wrongful act, and where it results in damage to one of the class for whose especial benefit the statute was enacted, the right to recover damages from the party in default is implied.”

A violation of a criminal statute or ordinance has been recognized as establishing some negligence as a matter of law. *Arbuckle v. Wasatch Land & Improvement Co.*, 120 Utah 358, 234 P.2d 607 (1951); *Gibbs v. Blue Cab Co.*, 249 P.2d 213 (Utah 1952); *Langlois v. Rees*, 10 U.2d 272, 351 P.2d 638 (1960). In the latter case, this court indicated that if a violation of a statute results in damage which the statute is designed to prevent, a supportable cause of action exists. Although these cases dealt with

vehicle accidents or personal injuries, and statutory violations of the pedestrian and vehicle codes, the theory behind such holdings is not so limited. *Huckleberry v. Missouri Pac. R.R.*, 324 Mo. 1025, 26 S.W. 2d 980 (1930); *Metz v. Medford Fur Foods*, 4 Wis. 2d 96, 90 N.W. 2d 106 (1958);¹ *Rappaport v. Nichols*, 31 N.J. 188, 156 A.2d 1 (1959);² *Major v. Waverly & Ogden, Inc.*, 7 N.Y. 2d 332, 165 N.E. 2d 181 (1960); *Dini v. Naiditch*, 170 N.E. 2d 881 (Ill. 1960).³ See also *Contrasting Images on Torts—The Judicial Personality of Justice Traynor*, 13 Stan. L. Rev. 779, 785. Thus, negligence may arise in many transactions and cause substantial damage apart from physical injury, where the conduct of the tortfeasor does not approach that of a reasonable man. Thus Prosser, *Torts*, 2nd Ed., notes:

“The standard of conduct of a reasonable man may be established by a statute or ordinance. The violation of such a legislative enactment may be negligence in itself if:

- a. The plaintiff is one of a class of persons whom the statute was intended to protect, and
- b. The harm which has occurred is of the type which it was intended to prevent.”

If the statute is not interpreted as intended to afford such protection, its violation may still, in some cases, be evidence of negligence for the jury.

-
1. Liability was imposed based on a criminal statute for the sale of injurious animal foods.
 2. Illegal sale of alcohol.
 3. Building Code violations.

A similar standard is found in the Restatement of Torts, Sec. 286, but, in addition, the restatement adds a section to cover particular hazards, and recognizes the defense of contributory negligence.⁴ It is also recognized that the presence or absence of a penalty is not material in the instant case. *Parker v. Barnard*, 135 Mass. 116, 46 Am. Rep. 450 (1883); Restatement of Torts, Sec. 287. It may certainly be said that a reasonably prudent man would not violate a criminal statute—especially where he has knowledge of it, as was alleged in the instant case. Lowndes, *Civil Liability Created by Criminal Legislation*, 16 Minn. L. Rev. 361, 364 (1932). Prosser, *supra*, p. 153. The real question then is whether the plaintiffs in the instant case fit the above categories. There can be no doubt that the prohibitive sale ordinances and statutes intended to cover these plaintiffs, since both Title 9 of the County Ordinances and 17-27-5, U.C.A. 1953, set out the purpose of the legislation as being for the protection and general welfare of the inhabitants, in which class all plaintiffs fall. 57-5-5, U.C.A. 1953 has been enacted without specifically setting out the legislative purpose; however, it goes without saying that these statutes are designed to protect the buyer from receiving as a building lot, property which may not have been so approved, and upon which he may not be able to build. This is so, since it is the sale or transfer which is prohibited—not just the building.

4. The absence of contributory negligence need not be pleaded in Utah since it is an affirmative defense (Rule 8 (c), U.R.C.P.), and the facts before the court have not concerned such claim. Many other facts such as estoppel to raise the defense may be involved so that this issue is now immaterial.

It is admitted that the scope of the chapters is to provide for regulated community development, but the prohibition against sale is to insure that until the subdivision is approved, the buyer will not be misled into thinking he is obtaining a good building lot. Damages have been recognized before for failure to comply with platting requirements. *Bibber v. Weber*, 102 NYS 2d 945 (1951). That the homeowner or purchaser is clearly within the class of persons sought to be protected is noted in Melli, *Subdivision Control in Wisconsin*, 1953, Wis. L. Rev. 389, where it is said:

“In additon to protecting the community interests subdivision control protects the lot purchaser or home buyer and his mortgage lender.

* * *

For example, subdivisions located too far from fire protection, public transportation and schools are a poor investment for the average home owner. Areas so far from public water and sewer that the cost of extending those services is prohibitive should also be avoided. This is true of subdivisions which because of an excess of subdivided lots, may never be fully built up. In discouraging the subdivison of these areas the community is protecting the potential buyer.

* * *

By requiring a survey and plat of the planned area for official scrutiny, the community provides the buyer with accurate boundary lines thus eliminating costly boundary disputes.”

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