1962

Keith B. Ellis et al v. Karl B. Hale et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM AGAINST RESPONDENTS UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED.

It cannot be determined from the complaint whether appellants rely on acts of fraud or misrepresentation on the part of defendants-respondents, or whether appellants rely on breach of warranty of title. If appellants rely

on fraud then under Rule 9b URCP appellants are required to state the acts of fraud on which they rely with particularity. This appellants have not done. If appellants rely on breach of warranty of title as against respondents who were grantors in the deeds, the subject of this action, then it is necessary to read into the warranty deed that which the statute does not imply. Appellants have not alleged facts sufficient to show the violation of any ordinance relied upon or of the violation of any law, nothing but bare legal conclusions.

There is no allegation of failure of title or of appellants having been disturbed in possession, neither is there any allegation that the title is encumbered. The only allegation is that appellants have been unable to obtain building permits to construct homes on the properties described in the deeds.

Appellants allege the deeds refer to lots in Mount Olympus Park No. 5. The deeds on which appellants rely and base their action do not recite any subdivision but on the contrary each deed contains a meets and bounds description as alleged by appellants in paragraphs 15th, 16th, and 17th of the second amended complaint. Therefore it is clear there is nothing before the court bearing out the allegations that the deeds made reference to or caused reference to be made to a certain purported plan or plat by a subdivision, to-wit, Mount Olympus Park No. 5.

As to the allegations purporting to state a cause of action against Defendants Backman, appellants allege

that defendant Milton V. Backman prepared all of the deeds. That this defendant was aware that Duncan thought he was purchasing 3 building lots although said defendant knew that the lots were not part of an approved subdivision he wholly failed to disclose this fact to said Duncan. This allegation is contradictory to the allegations contained in paragraphs sixteenth, seventeenth and eighteenth and is in conflict with the descriptions contained in the deeds relied upon. Therefore it is apparent Duncan was on notice at all times of the fact that the property was not a part of a subdivision.

As to the allegation in paragraph 37th of the issuance of "Interim Title Insurance Binders," it is alleged that the same were delivered to Duncan by Barrett. There is no allegation of any privity of contract between Duncan and defendants, Backman Abstract & Title Co. The instruments relied upon as against these defendants were not pleaded, and subparagraphs 1, 2 and 3 thereunder contain statements not presumed to be covered by an Interim Title Insurance Binder. As to the other allegations of the complaint purporting to state a cause of action against defendants Backman, the complaint contains no allegations as to the description of the property contained in the title policy purportedly issued or in the binder allegedly issued by defendants Backman. Neither is it alleged that there was privity of contract between Backman and any one of the plaintiffs.

POINT II.

The appellants, in Point II of their brief, contend that they state a cause of action against all of the defendants named upon two theories.

The first of these theories is predicated upon the proposition that it is negligent to violate certain statutes and ordinances which are set forth in the appellants' brief.

There is no question that the Salt Lake County Ordinance set forth in the section referred to of the Utah Code Annotated are accurate recitations of what those statutory provisions hold. It should be noted in this connection that the statutory provision referred to creates a violation or describes a violation as a misdemeanor.

On Page 10 and Page 11 of the appellants' brief there is set forth the underlying purpose of the county ordinance which is stipulated therein in the broadest terms. In neither the county ordinance referred to nor the state statute is there established in so many words or expressly any civil action such as the appellants brought against any violator of the ordinance or the state statute. The question which arises by reason of Point A in the appellants' brief contending that negligence can be predicated upon a violation of a statute and ordinance and thereby give rise to a cause of action in favor of the appellants and against the defendants.

In support of this proposition, the appellants refer to certain cases which purport to hold that a violation of a criminal statute or ordinance has been recognized as establishing some negligence as a matter of law. Also, in support of this proposition, is cited the case of *Langlois v. Reese*, 10 Utah 2d 272, 351 P 2d 638.

The appellants' brief uses this language in referring to the Langlois case:

"In the latter case (the Langlois case) this court *indicated* that if a violation of a statute results in damage which the statute is designed to prevent a supportable cause of action exists."

The Langlois case arose out of an automobile-pedestrian accident at the intersection of State Street and First Avenue. The westbound automobile was making a left turn from First Avenue going south on State Street when the pedestrian was crossing from west to east, not in a crosswalk, across State Street. The essence of the case is that the trial court sent the question of contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff to the jury on the question of whether this alleged contributory negligence was a proximate cause. The jury found that it was and the Supreme Court affirmed the decision. But nowhere in the decision is any language apparent which is susceptible of the proposition that the court indicated a violation of the statute or of a statute creates a supportable cause of action.

Also, in support of this proposition, the appellants cite in their brief a headnote from Prosser, Torts, 2nd Edition. The material in Prosser, which follows this headnote contains some decisions which seem to support the proposition that the violation of a criminal statute, will create a civil action on the part of one who is injured as a result of the violation of the statute if the plaintiff is one of a class the statute was designed to protect.

In connection with the citation to Prosser on Torts, 2nd Edition, which is made by appellants in their brief, beginning at Page 154 of the 2nd Edition, the following language appears under the general headnote which has been submitted to the court :

“It is not every infraction of a statute or an ordinance which will result in civil liability. Otherwise stated, there are statutes which are construed as creating no duty of conduct toward the plaintiff. The courts have been careful not to exceed the purpose which they attribute to the legislature. This judicial self-restraint has served as an argument for those who contend that an action cannot be founded upon a duty to another; but there is, of course, a special reason, in the theory of the separation of powers, for such reluctance to go beyond the legislative policy.”

Prosser continues on Page 155 of the 2nd Edition to say as follows :

“In many cases the evident policy of the legislature is to protect only a limited class of individuals, and the plaintiff must bring himself within that class in order to maintain an action based on the statute.”

The purpose of the passage of the county ordinance which is set forth in the appellants' brief is repeated here because of the very general language which is used. It reads as follows :

“The underlying purpose and intent of this title is to promote the health, safety, convenience and general welfare of the inhabitants of the un-

incorporated territory of the county in the manner of the subdivision of land and to encourage the healthful growth of the county.”

In *Akers v. Chicago, St. Paul, Milwaukee and Ohio Railway Company*, 58 Minn. 540, 60 N.W. 669, the following statement, footnoted in Prosser, occurs :

“Even if a defendant owes a duty to someone else but does not owe it to the person injured, no action will lie. The duty must be to the person injured. These principles are elementary and are equally applicable, whether the duty is imposed by positive statute or is founded on general common law principals.”

It is submitted that the general language employed in the preamble to the Salt Lake County Ordinance does not in express terms or otherwise purport to create in favor of these plaintiffs a civil cause of action against these defendants. The second theory advanced by the appellants in support of their Point II is that a negligent misrepresentation should give rise to the kind of cause of action which the appellants seek to bring here. This theory on the part of the appellants appears to be based on the proposition that the defendants, or some of them, either deliberately misrepresented the facts or negligently made representations or assertions, the truth of which, they did not ascertain.

The answer to this theory and contention of the appellants is simply that no representation, or misrepresentation, of the kind contended for by the appellants was

made, nor was there any conscious withholding of information which should have been given to the appellants.

The appellants in this regard seem to rely upon what they describe as an inference left by the defendants that the land in question was part of a valid subdivision. There is no support for the suggestion that an inference was left or made that the land was part of a valid subdivision. In this connection, also, the appellants refer to Prosser on Torts, 2nd Edition, Page 541, and say as follows:

“A representation made with an honest belief in its truth may still be negligent because of lack of reasonable care and ascertaining the facts, or in the manner of expression.”

This last statement “or in the manner of expression” is italicized in the appellants’ brief. Their contention seems to be that they were mislead by some sort of inference or a manner of expression or even a tone of voice.

In this connection, it should be taken into account that the plaintiff who complains most bitterly about this contended or alleged negligent misrepresentation is an attorney, who had equal and ample access to all of the information concerning the land involved as did the defendants. There is no necessity on the part of the defendants and respondents in this action to rely upon the doctrine of caveat emptor. It seems curious that the attorney to whom this property was sold made no personal inquiry with respect to its status as subdivision property

or otherwise; does not contend that he even asked concerning its subdivided status and then files a cause of action based upon inference or “a manner of expressio.”

It is submitted to the court, based upon the foregoing that the appellants have not stated a cause of action which can be predicated upon either a violation of a statute or an ordinance or upon the theory of conscious or negligent misrepresentation because no such representations were ever made.

POINT III.

Under Appellants’ Point III sub paragraph A—Fraud, they say the facts alleging the fraud are set out with particularity as required by Rule 9(b) URCP, and cite *Davis Stock Co. v. Hill*, 2 U. 2d 20 noting that the true facts must be alleged unless they appear obvious from the pleadings. The lower court in sustaining respondents’ motion determined that the allegations of fraud were insufficient and rightly so. Let us examine the complaint as to the allegations of fraud. Under paragraph 10th appellants allege the lots contained fewer than the minimum number of square feet allowed by the terms of the cited ordinance. It is apparent appellants knew or should have known from the meets and bounds description the area the lots contained.

In paragraph 11 appellants allege that title to all of the properties was in Hales and that the four lots were transferred to other members of the Hale family prior to execution of deeds to Barrett (one of the defendants), Duncan and Ellis. Then in paragraph 12th it is alleged

that in the spring of 1959, Hales, Elders and Fisher conveyed to Barrett three lots identified as 1, 2, and 3, in consideration of or exchange of some Utah County property, and under paragraph 13th it is alleged that Barrett and Hale deeded the three lots to Duncan and that certain of the other defendants (not named) joined in the deeds.

The only allegations of fraud are contained in Second Claim wherein appellants recite certain statements purportedly made to defendant Barrett and then restated by Barrett to Duncan. The statements allegedly made even if not hearsay as to Hales are not such statements as will give rise to an action of fraud.

As to representations claimed to have been made by Backmans under the Interim Title Report, as heretofore stated, there are no allegations of any privity of contract between them and Duncan. Neither are the instruments or any provisions thereof pleaded. The documents are not in evidence nor are they attached to the pleading as exhibits. There are no allegations to the effect that the title company failed to certify to that which is a matter of record, neither do appellants allege that the title company certified to the property as being a part of a subdivision.

There are no allegations to the effect that it was represented to Duncan or to his grantees by Hales that the property was a part of a dedicated subdivision.

At page 23 of appellants' brief they say knowledge of the falsity to Barrett is not specifically pleaded, but

it need not be. If appellants have stated a cause of action against Barrett for fraud it is not imputed to the other defendants and Barrett is not defending the case.

POINT V

The complaint contains no allegations against Backmans to the effect that they insured title to a property described as a part of subdivision. As stated heretofore, appellants do not so much as set out any provision of the Interim Title Report. All that appellants do is to allege Backmans did not disclose the lots were not subdivision lots. The description contained in the reports will show a meets and bounds description and that no reference is made to any subdivision. Appellants refer to defects in the title reports but fail to point out the particular in which the defect appears or just what the defect is, they allege the report did not point out that the property was subdivision building lots without specifying any provision of the report requiring the title company to do so.

The case of *Hocking v. Title Ins. & Trust Co.*, 37 Cal. 2d 644, 234 P2d 625, 40 ALR 2d 1238 is favorable to defendants Backman. Therein the court said in quoting from *The Coast Mutual Bldg. Loan Assn. v. Security Title Ins. & Guar. Co.*, 14 Cal. App. 2d 225, 57 P2d 1392:

“Not only the provisions of the policy as a whole, but also the exceptions to the liability of the insurer, must be construed so as to give the insured the protection which he reasonably had

a right to expect, and to that end doubts, ambiguities, and uncertainties arising out of the language used in the policy must be resolved in his favor."

Without the policies relied upon being pleaded or without pleading the provisions thereof appellants have not pleaded any cause of action as against Backmans. The allegations contained in the complaint are nothing but bare legal conclusions of the pleaders.

POINT VI.

Appellants charge defendants with breach of Warranty. It appears that Barrett is inadvertently referred to in the introductory paragraph of appellants' brief as a plaintiff.

Appellants have not alleged facts constituting any breach of warranty of title. The argument on pages 29 and 30 of their brief is not supported by the pleadings, on the contrary it is clearly evident from the allegations as contained in paragraphs 16th, 17th and 18th that no reference to any plat or map is contained in the deeds. Nowhere in the pleading does it appear that the grantee or their successors in interest have been disturbed in possession of the property covered by the deed. Appellants have cited no authority holding they had no right to convey the property covered by the deeds, and as to there not being the "quantity and quality" purported to be conveyed the deeds being meets and bounds description clearly disclose the area covered. Parol evidence could

not be introduced to alter or to explain same as there is no ambiguity in the deeds. In *Knight v. So. Pac. R. Co.*, 52 U. 42, 56, 172 P 689 the court said a parol agreement in no event runs with the land.

The deeds contain a complete description and the notation of Lot number adds nothing to the description and it will not be considered.

In 2 Devlin on Deeds, Third Ed., Vol. 2 at section 1013a, the law is stated as follows :

“If the land conveyed can be identified by the other calls of the description an impossible or senseless course will not be considered. Citing *Brose v. Boise City R.R.*, 5 Idaho 695.”

See also Thompson on Real Property, Perm. Ed. Vol. 6, Sec. 3274, p. 445.

POINT VII.

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